UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-10-2008

Grease Spot, Inc. v. Harnes Appellant's Brief Dckt. 35321

A.	Nature of the Case	
	В.	Procedural History 1	
	C.	Statement of Facts	
II.	ISSUES ON APPEAL		
III.	ARGUMENT		
IV.	CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF CASES, STATUTES AND AUTHORITIES

<u>Cases</u>

Paolini v. Albertson's, Inc., 143 Idaho 547, 149 P.3d 822, 824 (2006)
McLean v. Maverik Country Stores, Inc., 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 759 (2006)3
Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille School Dist. # 84, 142 Idaho 804, 807, 134 P.3d 655, 658 (2006)
City of Sandpoint v. Sandpoint Indep. Highway Dist., 139 Idaho 65, 69, 72 P.3d 905, 909 (2003)
Myers v. Vermaas, 114 Idaho 85, 753 P.2d 296, 297-99 (Ct.App. 1988)4
Griggs v. Nash, 116 Idaho 228, 775 P.2d 120, 126-27 (1989)
J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co., 132 Idaho 582, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999)4, 6
Union Warehouse and Supply v. Illinois R.B. Jones, Inc., 128 Idaho 660, 669, 917 P.2d 1300, 1309 (1996)
Sanders v. Lankford, 134 Idaho 322, 1 P.3d 823827-28 (Ct.App. 2000)
Barber v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 129 Idaho 677, 931 P.2d 1195, 1200 (1997)4
Emery v. United Pacific Ins. Co., 120 Idaho 244, 247, 815 P.2d 442, 444-45 (1991)4, 5, 6
Halliday v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 89 Idaho 293, 404 P.2d 634 (1965)
Wolfe v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co., 128 Idaho 398, 913 P.2d 1168, 1173-1176 (1996)5, 7
Storrer v. Kier Const. Corp., 129 Idaho 745, 747, 932 P.2d 373, 375-76 (Ct.App. 1997)5, 8
Hayden Lake Fire Protection Dist. v. Alcorn, 141 Idaho 307, 109 P.3d 161, 166-67 (2005) 5
Primary Health Network, Inc. v. State, 137 Idaho 663, 52 P.3d 307, 314 (2002)
Continental Cas. Co. v. Brady, 127 Idaho 830, 907 P.2d 807, 812-13 (1995)
Pendlebury v. Western Casualty & Sur. Co., 89 Idaho 456, 406 P.2d 129 (1965)
Hansen v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 112 Idaho 663, 671, 735 P.2d 974, 982 (1987)7

Martin v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 138 Idaho 244, 61 P.3d 601, 604-05 (2002)7
Anderson v. Farmers Insurance Co., 130 Idaho 755, 759, 947 P.2d 1003, 1007 (1997)7
Parsons v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 143 Idaho 743, 152 P.3d 614, 617-18 (2007)7
Barbee v. WMA Securities, Inc., 143 Idaho 391, 146 P.3d 657, 661 (2006)
Moore v. Omnicare, 141 Idaho 809, 118 P.3d 141, 149 (2005)
Garner v. Bartschi, 139 Idaho 430, 80 P.3d 1031, 1039 (2003)
Deelstra v. Hagler, 145 Idaho 922, 188 P.3d 864 (2008)10, 11, 12

Statutes

Idaho Code § 12-120

Idaho Code § 41-1839

1996 Idaho Sess. Laws 1307, 1308, 1309

Idaho Code § 12-123

Idaho Code § 7-910

Idaho Code § 30-1446

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This case involves the prevailing defendants/appellants Harnes' (Harnes) application for attorney fees incurred before, during and after Harnes successfully obtained an order compelling arbitration of the plaintiff/respondent The Grease Spot, Inc.'s (Grease Spot) civil action against them. This case asks this Court to examine the jurisprudence under Idaho Code § 12-120(3) in relationship to Idaho Code § 41-1839 and to construe these two feeshifting statues similarly to authorize an award of attorney fees despite the referral of the dispute to arbitration.

B. Procedural History

This action was for breach of a contract for the purchase and sale of The Grease Spot, Inc. based on the asserted violation of a non-competition clause in the agreement. R., pp. 1-25. The complaint also asked for relief based on the breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, for unjust enrichment, violation of the trade secrets act arising out of the breach of the contract and for injunctive relief arising out of the breach of the contract. Grease Spot instituted this action on July 5, 2005. Grease Spot prayed in part for its attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-120. R, p. 12. Harnes moved to dismiss and compel arbitration based on an arbitration provision in the contract. The arbitration provision was silent on the question of attorney fees. R., p. 23. Grease Spot objected. After a hearing and briefing, the trial court entered its order compelling arbitration and staying litigation on March 20, 2006. R., p. 33-36.

The matter was then arbitrated at a hearing before the Hon. Ron Schilling on March 20 and 21, 2007. Judge Schilling issued his decision on June 25, 2007. R., pp. 42-50. The arbitration award was confirmed by the court and judgment in behalf of Harnes was entered on October 1, 2007. R., pp. 51-54. The judgment did not contain a Rule 54(b) certificate. Harnes made a timely application for attorney fees and costs on October 11, 2007. R., pp. 55-68. Grease Spot objected and moved to disallow the Harnes' application. R., pp. 68-76. After a hearing held December 6, 2007, the trial court entered its Memorandum Decision and Order on January 22, 2008. R., pp. 77-81. The Grease Spot and the co-defendant Baker Commodities stipulated to an Order of Dismissal with Prejudice of the claims between them, which was entered March 27, 2008. R., pp. 82-83. That order made final the prior judgment between the Grease Spot and Harnes. A timely notice of appeal was filed May 8, 2008, R., pp. 84-87 and an amended notice of appeal showing service on the court reporter was filed June 4, 2008. R., pp. 88-91.

C. Statement of Facts

The facts relevant to this appeal are contained in the transcript of the hearing on December 6, 2007 and the trial court's Memorandum Decision and Order. The trial court denied Harnes' application for attorney fees incurred before and during arbitration and in obtaining confirmation of the arbitration award and entry of judgment, except for those attorney fees the trial court felt were attributable to the issue on which Harnes prevailed in the civil litigation - the motion to compel arbitration.

II. ISSUES ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying most of Harnes' attorney fees incurred in the civil action before the matter was referred to arbitration and all of Harnes' attorney fees after it returned?

Whether the trial court erred in denying Harnes' attorney fees in a suit to recover in a commercial transaction where the matter is referred to arbitration, the arbitration agreement is silent on the question of attorney fees, and the arbitrator makes no decision to grant or deny attorney fees to the prevailing party?

Whether Harnes are entitled to attorney fees on appeal?

III. ARGUMENT

1. The standard of review.

The interpretation of statutes is a question of law over which this Court exercises free review. *Paolini v. Albertson's, Inc.*, 143 Idaho 547, 149 P.3d 822, 824 (2006); *McLean v. Maverick Country Stores, Inc.*, 142 Idaho 810, 813, 135 P.3d 756, 759 (2006).

The Court construes the statute to give effect to the legislative intent, based on the plain, ordinary meaning of the words used. *Paolini*; *Carrier v. Lake Pend Oreille School Dist. # 84*, 142 Idaho 804, 807, 134 P.3d 655, 658 (2006). Statutes that are in pari materia must be construed together to effect legislative intent. Statutes are in pari materia if they relate to the same subject. *Paolini*; *City of Sandpoint v. Sandpoint Indep. Highway Dist.*, 139 Idaho 65, 69, 72 P.3d 905, 909 (2003).

2. Section 12-120(3) is a fee-shifting statute in pari materia with Section 41-1839.

Idaho Code § 12-120(3) is substantive law, not a procedural right. Myers v. Vermaas, 114 Idaho 85, 753 P.2d 296, 297-99 (Ct.App. 1988); Griggs v. Nash, 116 Idaho 228, 775 P.2d 120, 126-27 (1989). Idaho Code § 41-1839 is also substantive law, and amendments to it have only been given retroactive effect by specific legislative enactment. 1996 Idaho Sess. Laws 1307, 1308, 1309; J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co., 132 Idaho 582, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999); see also Union Warehouse and Supply v. Illinois R.B. Jones, Inc., 128 Idaho 660, 669, 917 P.2d 1300, 1309 (1996) (noting the retroactive effect of the 1996 amendment).

Idaho Code § 12-120(3) shifts the attorney fee responsibility between the parties in civil actions involving commercial transactions and allocates the cost of using the court system to resolve disputes in a facially neutral manner. It is not a penalty. *Sanders v. Lankford*, 134 Idaho 322, 1 P.3d 823827-28 (Ct.App. 2000).

Likewise, Idaho Code § 41-1839 has the purpose to guarantee that insureds who are forced to litigate performance of the insurance contract receive the full amount due undiminished by the costs associated with litigation. Section 41-1839 is not a penalty but an additional sum rendered as just compensation. *Barber v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 129 Idaho 677, 931 P.2d 1195, 1200 (1997); *Emery v. United Pacific Ins. Co.*, 120 Idaho 244, 815 P.2d 442, 445 (1991); *Halliday v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 89 Idaho 293, 404 P.2d 634 (1965). Section 41-1839 is an implied term in the insurance contract and modifies the general

American Arbitration Association rule that the parties must bear equally all expenses of arbitration, except those associated with the presentation of witnesses. *Emery*, 120 Idaho at 247; 815 P.2d at 445. It is not, however, an implied term that will support an independent action for its enforcement. *Wolfe v. Farm Bureau Ins. Co.*, 128 Idaho 398, 913 P.2d 1168, 1175 (1996).

The Idaho Court of Appeals has asked but not answered the question whether Idaho Code § 12-120(3) becomes an implied term in a contract involving a commercial transaction. *Storrer v. Kier Const. Corp.*, 129 Idaho 745, 932 P.2d 373, 375 (Ct.App. 1997). In *Storrer*, the Idaho Court of Appeals did hold that Idaho Code § 12-120 will not support an independent action for its enforcement. *Id.*, 129 Idaho at 747, 932 P.2d at 375.

Section 41-1839(4) states that it and Idaho Code § 12-123 provide the exclusive remedy for the award of statutory attorney fees in disputes between insureds and insurers arising under any policy of insurance and that Idaho Code § 12-120 does not apply to those disputes. See *Hayden Lake Fire Protection Dist. v. Alcorn*, 141 Idaho 307, 109 P.3d 161, 166-67 (2005) (recognizing rule as limited to disputes between insurer and insured –other commercial transaction disputes within the scope of Idaho Code § 12-120(3)) and *Primary Health Network, Inc. v. State*, 137 Idaho 663, 52 P.3d 307, 314 (2002) (awarding the prevailing party attorney fees under Section 12-120 in a suit over a commercial transaction involving insurance but not a dispute between an insurer and an insured).

The amendment to add subsection 4 to Idaho Code § 41-1839 was an apparent

legislative response to *Continental Cas. Co. v. Brady*, 127 Idaho 830, 907 P.2d 807, 812-13 (1995), in which the Idaho Supreme Court had awarded statutory attorney fees to the insurer under the facially neutral provisions of Idaho Code § 12-120(3). *J.R. Simplot Co. v. Western Heritage Ins. Co.*, 132 Idaho 582, 977 P.2d 196, 198 (1999).

Other than the distinction that Section 41-1839 is a one-way street unless Section 12-123 is satisfied, it meets the same criteria as Section 12-120(3): it is substantive, it is not punitive, and it allocates the expense of litigation in specific circumstances. Thus, Section 12-120(3) and Section 41-1839 are in pari material.

3. Under Section 41-1839, an insured is entitled to an award of attorney fees, including attorney fees incurred in the course of arbitration between the insured and the insurer, provided that two conditions are met.

In Emery v. United Pacific Ins. Co., 120 Idaho 244, 815 P.2d 442, 444-45 (1991), the Court affirmed the trial court's award of attorney fees to the insured under Section 41-1839 incurred during the entire litigation process, including the arbitration proceedings. That Idaho Code § 7-910 limited the arbitrator's authority to award attorney fees and the American Arbitration Association rules did not authorize an attorney fee award did not limit the authority of the district court to do so pursuant to Idaho Code § 41-1839. The Court reasoned that Idaho Code § 41-1839 became an implied provision of the insurance contract, citing *Pendlebury v. Western Casualty & Sur. Co.*, 89 Idaho 456, 406 P.2d 129 (1965).

The insured's right to attorney fees in arbitrations with the insurer was not absolute,

however. No right to attorney fees accrued under Section 41-1839, unless the insured had been compelled to bring a suit to obtain an amount justly due under the policy of insurance. Although Section 41-1839 was an implied provision of the insurance contract it would not support an independent action for fees by the insured against the insurer. *Wolfe v. Farm Bureau, Ins. Co.*, 128 Idaho 398, 913 P.2d 1168, 1173-1176 (1996).

The conditions for an award of attorney fees under Section 41-1839 were:

(1) [the insured] has provided proof of loss as required by the insurance policy; (2) the insurance company fails to pay an amount justly due under the policy within thirty days of such proof of loss; and (3) the insured "thereafter" is compelled to bring suit to recover for his loss.

Id., quoting from Hansen v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 112 Idaho 663, 671, 735 P.2d 974, 982 (1987).

In Martin v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 138 Idaho 244, 61 P.3d 601, 604-05 (2002), the Idaho Supreme Court abandoned the third "compulsion" prong of the Hansen test, disapproving Anderson v. Farmers Insurance Co., 130 Idaho 755, 759, 947 P.2d 1003, 1007 (1997). See Parsons v. Mutual of Enumclaw Ins. Co., 143 Idaho 743, 152 P.3d 614, 617-18 (2007). So to the extent that compulsion presented a justification to award attorney fees against insurers in civil actions referred to arbitration, it no longer does so.

4. Under Section 12-120(3) the same analysis applies. Where a suit is over a commercial transaction, the prevailing party is entitled to an award of attorney fees. This entitlement to attorney fees in the prevailing party applies whether the contract constituting the commercial

transaction has an attorney fee provision. This entitlement to attorney fees should apply even though the civil action is referred to arbitration on the motion of a party.

Storrer v. Kier Const. Corp., 129 Idaho 745, 932 P.2d 373, 376 (Ct.App. 1997), Barbee v. WMA Securities, Inc., 143 Idaho 391, 146 P.3d 657, 661 (2006) and Moore v. Omnicare, 141 Idaho 809, 118 P.3d 141, 149 (2005) all involved applications for attorney fees or suits for attorney fees after the completion of arbitration and are inapposite. In Storrer, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision that a request for attorney fees through an application for confirmation of an arbitration award was not a civil action. A party claiming attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120(3) must prevail in a civil action. The court noted that the commercial transaction had been decided in arbitration, not in a civil action. 129 Idaho at 747, 932 P.2d at 375. In Barbee, the Court rejected an action for attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 30-1446 subsequent to an arbitration award. In Moore, the Court overruled the arbitrator's award of attorney fees where the Asset Purchase Agreement required that the parties bear their own costs and fees of arbitration, including specifically attorney fees. Compare Garner v. Bartschi, 139 Idaho 430, 80 P.3d 1031, 1039 (2003) (arbitration agreement specifically awarded attorney fees to prevailing party). The purchase and sale agreement in this case was silent on the issue of attorney fees.

In this case, Grease Spot filed a civil action involving a commercial transaction and prayed for relief including attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120. Harnes defended the civil action until the trial court stayed the litigation and ordered arbitration. The trial court rejected Harnes application for attorney fees incurred in the arbitration, and incurred by Harnes in the civil action before and after the referral to arbitration, concluding that the only "claim" on which Harnes prevailed in the civil action was the motion to compel arbitration.

This doesn't make sense. The Idaho cases teach that applications to confirm arbitration awards standing alone are not civil actions that support applications for attorney fees under either Section 41-1839 or Section 12-120. How then, can the "claim" contained in a motion to compel arbitration be a civil action supporting the trial court's limited award of attorney fees in this case. Harnes appreciates the trial court's decision to make the limited award of attorney fees for the effort incurred in compelling arbitration, but that was not the gravamen of the civil action. The gravamen of the civil action was the breach of the purchase and sale agreement.

If Harnes had been unsuccessful in their motion to compel arbitration and the matter had proceeded to trial against Harnes and Baker Commodities, there would be no doubt that the prevailing party in that action would have been entitled to attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120(3). Why then, once the litigation is stayed and the matter involving one of two defendants is referred to arbitration, should there be a different result?

Until very recently, this Court had not decided a case where there is a suit over a commercial transaction and during the course of the suit the matter is referred to arbitration.¹

¹ Harnes recognize that dicta in *Barbee v. WMA Securities, Inc.*, 143 Idaho 391, 146 P.3d 657, 662 (2006) and *Deelstra v. Hagler*, 145 Idaho 922, _____, 188 P.3d 864, 867 say that filing a civil action before arbitration still does not permit the trial court to award attorney fees

The parties and the trial court did not have the benefit of this Court's decision in *Deelstra v. Hagler*, 145 Idaho 922, 188 P.3d 864 (2008) at the time of Harnes' application for attorney fees and costs. *Deelstra* answers the first question on appeal: whether Harnes are entitled to their attorney fees before and after referral of the civil action on a commercial transaction to arbitration. They are, and the trial court's decision denying most of Harnes attorney fees before the matter was referred to arbitration and Harnes' attorney fees after the matter was returned from arbitration should be reversed and the matter remanded for reconsideration of the attorney fee application in light of *Deelstra*.

As tantalizing close as *Deelstra* came, it did not decide the question in this case: is the prevailing party in a civil action over a commercial transaction entitled to attorney fees under Idaho Code § 12-120(3), where during the course of the civil action the matter is referred to arbitration, the arbitrator has the arbitration agreement, the arbitration agreement is silent on the issue of attorney fees, and the arbitrator does not presume to decide the question of attorney fees.

Harnes concedes that *Deelstra* decided that the trial court improperly modified the award of the arbitrator to deny the prevailing party attorney fees incurred in arbitration. Even though the parties both asked the arbitrator to award attorney fees to the prevailing party, no written arbitration agreement was ever presented to the arbitrator.

Here there was no award by the arbitrator on attorney fees, so there was nothing for

incurred in arbitration under Idaho Code §§ 30-1446 and 12-120(3).

the trial court improperly to modify.

Deelstra also did not reach the apparently dichotomy between this Court's treatment of attorney fees incurred in arbitration involving suits between insureds and insurers and this court's treatment of attorney fees incurred in arbitrations involving commercial transactions. The two statutes, Section 41-1839 and Section 12-120, are in pari materia and should be treated the same. Neither is a penalty. Each is intended to be an additional sum to represent just compensation. Each is a substantive right. Only Section 41-1839 is a one-way street, while Section 12-120 is facially neutral. This Court has decided that Section 41-1839 is an implied term in an insurance policy; so far this Court has not made the same decision for Section 12-120. These distinctions are, however, without a difference. Calling Section 41-1839 an implied term in an insurance policy is just a fiction to circumvent the restrictions in the Idaho Arbitration Act, the American Arbitration Association rules, and presumably language in insurance policies requiring the parties to bear their own attorney fees. There is no reason that the same fiction should not be indulged in commercial transactions. Those who enter into commercial transactions in Idaho are held to knowledge of the substantive law, which shifts fees to the prevailing party. The public policies furthered by indulging such a fiction are identical.

Yet, insureds are entitled to an award of attorney fees in a civil action to recover the amount justly due under a policy of insurance including the attorney fees incurred in arbitration, while the prevailing party in a commercial transaction is denied the same right. Unless there is a special place in Hell for insurance companies, which would make Section 41-1839 a penalty, there is no reason to treat these two statutes differently. This case squarely puts the proposition that either both insureds and prevailing parties in suits over commercial transactions should get their attorney fees when they prevail or neither should.

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