# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-14-2008

## Grease Spot, Inc. v. Harnes Respondent's Brief Dckt. 35321

#### II. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

## A. The Harnes are Not Entitled to Recover Attorney Fees Incurred in Arbitration

It is not permissible to award attorney fees in arbitration unless the arbitration agreement expressly so provides. I.C. § 7-910; *Storrer v. Kier Construction Corporation*, 129 Idaho 745, 746, 932 P.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1997). Furthermore, there is no:

...basis to conclude that the legislature, in enacting I.C. § 12-120(3), intended to grant parties an independent right of action simply for the recovery of attorney fees incurred in arbitration, when such fees clearly cannot be awarded as part of the arbitration.

Id., 129 Idaho at 747.

Harnes rely heavily on I.C. § 41-1839, and the case law which is developed around that statute, as support for their position here. That reliance is misplaced.

I.C. § 41-1839 is an implied term in every insurance contract. *Emery v. United Pacific Insurance Company*, 120 Idaho 244, 247, 815 P.2d 442 (1991). In *Pendlebury v. Western Casualty and Surety Company*, 89 Idaho 456, 406 P.2d 129 (1965), the court described it as:

...axiomatic that the obligation of I.C. § 41-1839 became part and parcel of the contract of insurance to the same effect as though incorporated therein.

89 Idaho at 470.

The axiom referenced in the *Pendlebury* decision arises from numerous cases in which statutes regulating the business of insurance were claimed to unconstitutionally impair contractual obligations. For example, in *Penrose v. Commercial Travelers Insurance Company*, 75 Idaho 524, 275 P.2d 969 (1954), the insurance company challenged the enforceability of an attorney fees statute relative to an insurance policy issued before the statute was passed. With respect to this challenge, the *Penrose* court held:

The particular statute relates to insurance business carried on in this state; such business is affected with the public interest and the private rights of contract in relation thereto must be and are subjected to the valid exercise of the police power by the legislature. *Intermountain Lloyds v. Diefendorf*, 51 Idaho 304, 5 P.2d 730. It is under the inherent police power vested in the legislature that it saw fit to subject any insurance company, where an action is filed and successfully prosecuted to judgment in any court in this state for recovery on any of its policies issued herein, to the payment of a reasonable attorney's fee.

#### 75 Idaho at 537.

In Halliday v. Farmers Insurance Exchange, 89 Idaho 293, 404 P.2d 634 (1965), a successful plaintiff on an uninsured motorist claim against his automobile insurance company was awarded attorney fees under I.C. § 41-1839. The written demand made against the insurance company before the plaintiff filed suit was substantially greater than the verdict rendered by the jury. However, the insurance company did not ever tender any amount "justly due" to the plaintiff. The insurance company appealed the attorney fees awarded under Idaho Code § 41-1839, claiming that because the amount

originally demanded by the plaintiff exceeded the amount of the verdict, the statute did not authorize an award of attorney fees. 89 Idaho at 295-296.

On appeal, the Supreme Court quoted with approval portions of the analysis set forth in *Penrose v. Commercial Travelers Insurance Company*, 75 Idaho 524, 275 P.2d 969 (1954):

...The parties entered into the insurance contract charged with the knowledge of the reserved police power of the state which may at any time be invoked in the promotion of the general welfare by enlarging from time to time the remedies and procedures in connection with insurance contracts....

89 Idaho at 299 (quoting 75 Idaho at 539).

As the above authorities indicate, the nature of the insurance business is unique, rendering insurance companies subject to legislative authority not ordinarily applicable to businesses in general. One manifestation of this circumstance is that I.C. § 41-1839 is rendered part of every insurance policy in Idaho.

It is because I.C. § 41-1839 is an implied <u>contractual</u> provision of every insurance policy that I.C. § 7-910 and I.C. § 41-1839 were reconciled and reconcilable in *Emery v. United Pacific Insurance Company*, 120 Idaho 244, 815 P.2d 442 (1991). In *Emery*, the insurance policy required arbitration of disputes between the company and its insured. The policy required the expenses of arbitration to be shared equally between the company and the insured, "unless they agree otherwise". 120 Idaho at 246-247.

The trial court awarded attorney fees to the insured under I.C. § 41-1839. The insurance company appealed, relying on *Bingham County Commissioners v. Interstate* 

Electric Company, 105 Idaho 36, 665 P.2d 1046 (1983), for the proposition that under I.C. § 7-910 it is beyond the scope of an arbitrator's powers to award attorney fees to one of the parties absent a contractual agreement to do so. 120 Idaho at 246.

The Supreme Court upheld the trial court's award of attorney fees. In doing so, the Supreme Court left intact the holding of *Bingham County, supra*, ruling instead:

However, that limitation upon an arbitrator does not extend to the authority of the district court to award attorney fees pursuant to I.C. § 41-1839.

120 Idaho at 246.

The analysis of the *Emery* court as to why it upheld the award of attorney fees was as follows:

This Court has previously held that the provisions of I.C. § 41-1839 become part of the insurance contract to the same effect as though incorporated therein. *Pendlebury v. Western Casualty and Surety Company*, 89 Idaho 456, 406 P.2d 129 (1965). I.C. § 41-1839 provides in pertinent part:

41-1839. Allowance of Attorney Fees in Suits Against Insurers.—(1) Any insurer issue any policy, certificate or contract of insurance, surety, guaranty or indemnity of any kind or nature whatsoever, which shall fail for a period of thirty (30) days after proof of loss has been furnished as provided in such policy, certificate or contract, to pay to the person entitled thereto the amount justly due under such policy, certificate or contract, shall in any action thereafter brought against the insurer in any court in this state for recovery under the terms of the policy, certificate or contract, pay such further amounts as the court shall adjudge reasonable as attorney's fees in such action.

Pursuant to this implied term in the insurance contract, the parties agree that the insurer is obligated to pay attorney fees if the insured is compelled to file suit to recover under the insurance policy. As an implied term in the insurance contract, the statutory language of I.C. § 41-1839 modifies the general American Arbitration Association rule that parties must bear equally all expenses of arbitration, except those associated with the presentation of witnesses. Where the insured is required and compelled to file a lawsuit by reason of an insurer's refusal to pay in order to recover under her insurance contract, we hold it is implicit in I.C. § 41-1839 that the court shall adjudge a reasonable award of attorney fees against the insurer.

#### 120 Idaho at 247 (emphasis original)

Because of the nature of the insurance business, I.C. § 41-1839 is an implied contractual part of every insurance policy. As such, every insurance policy which requires disputes between insurance companies and their insureds to be resolved by arbitration include "in the agreement to arbitrate", consistent with I.C. § 7-910, the fee shifting requirements of I.C. § 41-1839. That such is the case in Idaho, however, is unique to the subject of the law pertaining to insurance. The same does not hold true in other areas.

Harnes advocate that I.C. § 12-120(3) should be deemed an implied term of the contract at issue in this case. In *Storrer v. Kier Construction Corp.*, 129 Idaho 745, 932 P.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1997), that same argument was rejected by the Court of Appeals. Idaho Code § 12-120(3) is not a required or implied term in any contract of a commercial nature. If it were, the court in *Storrer* would not have affirmed the ruling of:

...the district court [which] rejected Storrer's contention that a right to recover attorney fees under I.C. § 12-120(3) is implied into every contract involving a commercial transaction.

#### 129 Idaho at 747.

Insurance policies are adhesion contracts and the parties do not have the ability to negotiate the terms included in those policies. As such, the state reserves extensive police powers to require, on behalf of insureds, that certain provisions must be included in the policies. I.C. § 41-1839 is such a provision.

Ordinary contracts of a commercial nature are not susceptible to the same concerns that exist relative to contracts of insurance. The parties are, as they were here, generally able to negotiate the various terms of their contracts. The jurisprudential bases for imposing, as a contractual provision, the terms of I.C. § 41-1839 into every contract of insurance do not exist for ordinary commercial contracts and the provisions of I.C. § 12-120(3).

Had the parties here desired a fee shifting provision like that in I.C. § 12-120(3) to be part of their contract, they could have easily included it. They did not do so, however. Their agreement nowhere states that one party would be liable for the other's attorney fees in the event of a dispute. The parties' agreement did, however, make express provision for disputes to be resolved in arbitration. Under I.C. § 7-910, each party is to bear its own expenses in the arbitration in the absence of an agreement to the contrary. There was no such agreement to the contrary here. As such, Judge Hosack's

holding is correct, and should be affirmed, with respect to attorney fees incurred in arbitration by the Harnes.

## B. Attorney Fees Incurred Before Arbitration and Attorney Fees Incurred After Arbitration.

Harnes argue that *Deelstra v. Hagler*, 145 Idaho 922, 188 P.3d 864 (2008) mandates an award of all the attorney fees incurred by Harnes both before and after the arbitration proceeding below. That argument is misplaced.

Deelstra is limited in application to the issues addressed there. Specifically, the Supreme Court noted that:

Deelstra does not challenge the District Court's prevailing party determination, nor the amount of the fee award.

188 P.3d at 866.

In this case, with respect to attorney fees claimed for legal work done before arbitration, Judge Hosack correctly addressed both the issue of prevailing party and the amount of the award:

The Court finds that Harnes prevailed in the civil litigation with regard to the issue of compelling arbitration. The Grease Spot commenced the civil litigation and Harnes attempted to move the matter into arbitration. Harnes was successful in doing that. The attorney fees incurred in context of civil litigation over a commercial transaction in obtaining the order of a court compelling arbitration should be properly recoverable in the civil litigation. However, attorney fees incurred in defending or prosecuting the civil claims itself are not necessarily issues upon which a party prevailed in the civil litigation. Since the matter went into arbitration, a court would have to refer to the arbitration proceeding to conduct an analysis of the prevailing party. Instead, this court looks to the issues upon which the party

prevailed in civil litigation itself. The issue upon which Harnes prevailed was the issue compelling arbitration. Harnes is therefore entitled to an award of attorney fees incurred in compelling arbitration. The court finds that 16.9 hours of attorney time prior to March 20, 2006 to be appropriately attributable to compelling arbitration.

R. 80.

Determining the issue of "prevailing party" requires analysis of three principle factors: (1) the final judgment or result obtained in relation to the relief sought; (2) whether there were multiple claims or issues between the parties; and (3) the extent to which each of the parties prevailed on each of the claims or issues. *Sanders v. Lankford*, 134 Idaho 322, 325, 1 P.3d 823 (Ct. App. 2000). The determination of prevailing party is one of discretion for the trial court. *Id.*; *Bream v. Benscoter*, 139 Idaho 364, 79 P.3d 723, 727 (2003).

The trial court correctly determined that the only issue upon which Harnes prevailed before the court was the issue of compelling arbitration. R. 80. Armed with counsel's time entries [R. 64-67] the trial court was able to determine an appropriate award for the time counsel spent before arbitration on the subject of compelling arbitration. R. 80. The trial court correctly acted in its discretion and should be affirmed with respect to the issue of attorney fees allowable prior to the commencement of arbitration.

Harnes also seek attorney fees for events following issuance of the arbitrator's award. The trial court correctly observed that proceedings for confirmation of arbitrator's awards under the Uniform Arbitration Act are designed to be summary. R. 79. Indeed,

under I.C. § 7-911, an award is automatically confirmed upon presentation thereof absent a timely objection.

Harnes relied below on *Driver v. SI Corp.*, 139 Idaho 423, 80 P.3d 1024 (2003) for the proposition that "disbursements" under I.C. § 7-914 include attorney fees. *See* R. 79. However, *Driver* was concerned with "non-meritorious protracted confirmation challenges". 139 Idaho at 429. Here, as the trial court noted, no objection to confirmation was raised by The Grease Spot. Harnes never sought modification or correction of the award relative to the question of attorney fees pursuant to I.C. § 7-913.

Review of the record reflects that the Harnes' attorney fees incurred after the arbitrator's initial award determination were incurred in an unsuccessful attempt to persuade the arbitrator to change his mind, and otherwise incurred pursuing attorney fee awards. See R. 64-67. Attorney fees incurred for activities directed at the arbitrator are not, as discussed above, recoverable under the circumstances of this case. Attorney fees incurred pursuing attorney fees are likewise not recoverable.

For example, in *Koelker v. Turnbull*, 127 Idaho 262, 899 P.2d 972 (1995), the Koelkers sought and were awarded attorney fees incurred quieting title clouded by breach of the warrant of seizen. The trial court awarded those attorney fees, plus attorney fees incurred by the Koelkers in their attempts to recover those attorney fees after title was quieted.

The Supreme Court reversed the judgment as to the attorney fees incurred after title was quieted, holding that "the only attorney fees which are recoverable as damages

are those which are directly attributable to quieting title in the property". 127 Idaho at 266.

In *Allison v. John M. Biggs, Inc.*, 121 Idaho 567, 826 P.2d 916 (1992), the Supreme Court held that the then existing version of I.C. § 12-120 "does not provide for a post-judgment award of attorney fees". 121 Idaho at 568. The current version of I.C. § 12-120(5) does allow for post-judgment awards of attorney fees, but only where such fees are "incurred in attempting to collect on the judgment".

Review of the record in this case reveals that the arbitrator's award was rendered June 25, 2007. R. 42-49. Review of counsel's time entries [R. 66] reveals that the attorney fees incurred by Harnes from that date forward were directed at further proceedings before the arbitrator, and attempts to recover a judgment from the court for attorney fees. The obtainment of quiet title in the *Koelker* case is analogous to the entry of the arbitrator's award in the present case. The Koelkers were entitled to recover the attorney fees they incurred obtaining quiet title as damages. However, once quiet title was obtained, the legal bases upon which attorney fees could be awarded ceased to exist. In the absence of some other statutory or contractual basis for an award of attorney fees thereafter, the Koelkers were not entitled to recover such fees.

In this case, the contest over the merits of the parties' dispute over their "commercial transaction" was resolved upon entry of the arbitrator's Memorandum Decision. From that point forwarded, Harnes' legal efforts have been directed at not the merits of the underlying case, but on their quest to recover attorney fees. I.C. § 12-120(5)

clearly indicates that post-judgment attorney fees are awardable only with respect to attempts to collect on a judgment. Such is not an allowable basis for an award of attorney fees.

Judge Hosack's ruling on the subject of attorney fees incurred after arbitration is consistent with the above. Under the circumstances of this case, the only "necessary" step required for Harnes to reduce the arbitrator's award to a judgment was the ministerial act described in I.C. §§ 7-911 and 7-914. In the words of Judge Hosack:

It is this Court's finding that in a normal confirmation of arbitration proceedings pursuant to 7-914, an award of attorney fees is unnecessary. The Court finds that this is true in the instant case as well.

#### R. 79.

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